ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARVIN BOWENS GREEN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-212739

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**

MAR 25 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Violating Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial, the trial judge erred in failing to provide the jury with specific instructions concerning how to analyze the evidence presented concerning the identification of Appellant as the perpetrator, including expert testimony on the subject, significant language barriers between the police officers and the eyewitness who participated in the photographic line-up, and the use of surveillance video to make an identification.

II. The trial judge erred in allowing the prosecution to introduce Appellant's mug shot where no demonstrable need of the mug shot was established, the mug shot was unnecessary and cumulative to the prosecution's case, and the mug shot prejudiced Appellant by suggesting to the jury that Appellant had a prior criminal record.

III. Violating the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment, the trial court erred in sentencing Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to the state's recidivist statute because Appellant's prior conviction was committed when he was seventeen-years old.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2011, a Charleston County grand jury indicated Appellant for armed robbery (2011-GS-10-2338) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-2339). R. 414 (Indictments). The state, represented by Bruce Durant and Rutledge Durant, called the case for trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury on June 11, 2012. Andrew Grimes and Cody Groeber represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 343, line 20 – R. 344, line 9. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP) pursuant to the recidivist statute concerning the armed robbery conviction and to five years' imprisonment concerning the firearm charge. R. 351, lines 15-23; R. 416 (sentence sheet).

After the trial, on June 25, 2012, Appellant filed a motion to vacate his sentence. R. 397 (motion to vacate). By order filed July 31, 2012, Judge Harrington denied Appellant's motion. R. 403 (Order).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. Violating Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial, the trial judge erred in failing to provide the jury with specific instructions concerning how to analyze the evidence presented concerning the identification of Appellant as the perpetrator, including expert testimony on the subject, significant language barriers between the police officers and the eyewitness who participated in the photographic line-up, and the use of surveillance video to make an identification.

### **Relevant facts**

The state's entire case rested upon identifications of Appellant as the robber of a gas station made by one eyewitness and three witnesses of a surveillance video. Natubhai Patel, the owner of the gas station, testified that at 7:45 a.m. on December 24, 2010, a man, wearing sunglasses and a hat, entered the store with a gun. R. 7, lines 10-20. The man robbed the store of a small amount of money and a pack of cigarettes. R. 9, lines 7-16. Natubhai identified Appellant as the robber. He claimed he knew Appellant as a customer of the store. In fact, he claimed Appellant was in the store three times per week over the previous year. R. 7, line 24 – R. 8, line 25. While Appellant was his customer, Natubhai engaged in some small talk with him – primarily consisting of a shared joke regarding President Barack Obama having signed Appellant's identification. R. 8, lines 6-8. After the robbery, Natubhai contacted law enforcement, and then his wife. R. 9, lines 17-18; R. 13, lines 1-2. Natubhai, along with his wife and son, watched the surveillance video with police. R. 9, lines 19-25.

On December 29, 2010, Natubhai met with two police officers in the parking lot of a local shopping mall for a photo line-up. R. 14, lines 5-8. Due to Natubhai's limited

ability to speak, read, and understand English, Natubhai's son, Dhruval, translated the admonitions. R. 13, lines 18-20; R. 15, lines 8-22; R. 17, line 23 – R. 18, line 1.<sup>1</sup> Natubhai identified Appellant's photograph from the line-up. R. 15, lines 23 – 25; R. 75, lines 1-8.

Natubhai was approximately two feet from the individual in the well-lit store. R. 20, lines 9-14. Despite the individual's wearing of sunglasses, Natubhai claimed he could see the individual's face clearly. R. 21, lines 2-5. Natubhai also claimed that 80% of his customers were African-American. R. 21, lines 12 – 14. He admitted that he was scared when the gun was pointed at him. R. 23, line 22 – R. 24, line 3; R. 25, lines 23 – 25. Additionally, he admitted the robber was wearing a hat but claimed it was pushed slightly back. Although he recalled the jacket having a hood attached, he could not recall whether the perpetrator wore the attached hood as well. R. 24, lines 4 – 19. Natubhai admitted that he had spoken to his wife and son regarding the robbery, and he had watched the surveillance video from the robbery multiple times. R. 26, lines 1 – 22.

Dustin Luckadoo, a Charleston County Sheriff's Office employee, responded to the scene of the alleged armed robbery shortly after 8 o'clock in the morning. R. 43, lines 6 – 13; R. 44, lines 1 – 10. Luckadoo then reviewed the surveillance video. At trial, Luckadoo claimed he recognized the suspect. R. 50, lines 10 -25. Luckadoo claimed the suspect was "Marvin Bowens." R. 51, lines 1 -2. Luckadoo then identified the perpetrator in the video as Appellant. R. 51, line 24 – R. 52, line 5. Similarly, Charles

---

<sup>1</sup> Dhruval testified that he interpreted the entire admonitions sheet for his father from English to their Indian dialect. R. 33, line 2 – R. 34, line 25. On the other hand, James Perkins, the officer who administered the lineup, testified that Dhruval assisted but did not act as a translator. R. 168, lines 18 – 21. Specifically Perkins testified that Dhruval did not translate each paragraph or sentence. R. 169, lines 1 – 11.

Lawrence, the investigator assigned to the case, testified that he identified the perpetrator in the videos Appellant. R. 67, line 24 – R. 68, line 15. Finally, Jagruti Patel, the wife of Natubhai, testified that she also worked at the store regularly and identified Appellant as the perpetrator in the videotape. Supp. R. 1, line 16 – Supp. R. 2, line 1; Supp. R. 3, line 22 – Supp. R. 4, line 5.

Appellant called Dr. Jennifer Beaudry, an uncontested expert in human memory and eyewitness identification, to testify regarding the reliability of eyewitness identifications and how memory works. Dr. Beaudry testified regarding several common misconceptions regarding memory including that memory acts like a video recorder and that a traumatic event improves memory. R. 208, lines 8 – 20. Additionally, Dr. Beaudry testified regarding factors that affect an individual's ability to acquire memories including the phenomenon of the weapon focus, the effect of disguises, and exposure time. R. 285, line 14 – R. 216, line 23; R. 221, line 13 – R. 224, lines 7. Dr. Beaudry testified that research indicated individuals are much better at identifying someone of the individual's own race than identifying someone of a different race. R. 220, lines 13 – 24. She further explained to the jury how memory fades in as little as two hours. R. 224, line 17 – R. 225, line 8. Memory also changes as additional information is presented after the event. R. 225, lines 9 – 24.

Appellant submitted multiple proposed jury instructions based upon the single largest issue in the case – identification. R. 290, lines 5-13; R. 291, lines 10-15; R. 388 (Court's Exhibit #9). The instruction entitled "Request to Charge Number One" concerned eyewitness identification. Specifically, the proposed instruction advised the jury to consider the extent to which the perpetrator's features were visible and

undisguised, whether there were any distractions during the eyewitness's observation, whether the eyewitness experienced stress or fright at the time of the observation and whether the witness's identification may have been impaired by personal motivations biases or prejudices. Additionally, the instruction allowed the jury to consider issues implicated by cross-racial identifications. The proposed instructions also provided the jury with guidance concerning how to determine whether the identification was a product of the witness's own memory. R. 388 (Court's exhibit # 9).

Despite these relevant and informative requests, the judge refused to charge the jury as Appellant sought. Instead, the judge issued her "standard identification charge." R. 290, lines 20-23.

Specifically, the judge instructed the jury in very limited boiler-plate fashion as follows concerning how to evaluate identifications made by eyewitnesses and other witnesses:

An issue in this case is the identification of the defendant as the person who committed the crime charged. The state had the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt. You must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the accuracy of the identification of the defendant before you may convict the defendant.

Identification testimony is an expression of belief or impression by a witness or impression by a witness. You must determine the accuracy of the identification of the defendant. You must consider the believability of each identification witness in the same way as any other witness.

You may consider whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense. This will be affected by things like how long or short a time was available, how far or close the witness was, the lighting conditions, and whether the witness had a chance to see or know the person in the past.

R. 330, lines 5-22.

At the conclusion of the instructions, Appellant renewed his requests to charge. Appellant explained how the proposed charges guided the jury's evaluation of the identifications made in the case, particularly in light of the multiple identifications having been made, only one of which was by an eyewitness, and a disguise hiding key features. The proposed charges also related to the jury its ability to consider whether the witness was distracted and experienced "weapon focus." The charge allowed the jury to consider whether the witnesses had the requisite ability to identify a member of a different race. The charges allowed the jury to consider the length of time between exposure and identification and the exposure of the witnesses to opinions of others during the interval. R. 335, line 23 – R. 342, line 9.

### **Discussion**

Due Process requires the prosecution prove every element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt – including the element that the defendant is the actual perpetrator. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970); Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 400, 585 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2003); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, 749 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2013). Therefore, a trial court must instruct the jury to ensure the jury's verdict is based upon the evidence presented. Jury instructions are important particularly in matters of witness identifications due to the high number of wrongful convictions based upon erroneous identifications. See Perry v. New Hampshire, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 716, 728 (2012).

"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the requested charge. The

refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006). The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed jury instructions concerning witness identifications in State v. Motes, 264 S.C. 317, 215 S.E.2d 190 (1975). The Court held that the trial judge’s failure to provide the model instruction<sup>2</sup> concerning identification was not error where two witnesses identified the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime. Id. at 326, 215 S.E.2d at 194. Nevertheless, the Court explained its holding was based upon the fact that the trial court’s instructions adequately focused the attention of the jury on the necessity of finding that the testimony identified the defendant as the perpetrator beyond a reasonable doubt in order to convict. Additionally, the Court noted the identification presented “no peculiar problem.” Id.

Although the Supreme Court found no error in a trial court’s instructions to the jury on the issue of identification where the judge instructed the jury that the defendant had asserted an alibi claiming she was not at the scene of the crime, the court “admonish[ed] the trial bench that in single witness identification cases the court should instruct the jury that the burden of proving the identity of the defendant rests with the state.” State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83-84, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992).

---

<sup>2</sup> In the United States v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552, 555 (D.C. Cir.1972), the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia explained that the presumption of innocence “must be a premise that is realized in instruction and not merely a promise.” Thus, the judicial system required “special instruction on the key issue of identification, which emphasize[d] to the jury the need for finding that the circumstances of the identification are convincing beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. As a result of the concerns attendant to criminal prosecutions based upon witness identifications, the Court issued a model jury instruction. Id. at 558-559.

In State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 142, 406 S.E.2d 369, 371 – 372 (1991), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that expert testimony concerning eyewitness identification was admissible where the witness was a qualified psychologist who explained how certain aspects of everyday experience affect human perception and memory and therefore affects the accuracy of eyewitness identification. The Court further explained that the expert’s testimony was particularly relevant where the witness testified that her assailant’s features were partially obscured during the entire incident, the identification involved cross race, and each witness had been exposed to the assailant for a short length of time. Id. at 143, 406 S.E.2d at 372.

The trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury with the specific requests made by Appellant concerning evaluating witness identifications. Appellant’s proposed instructions encompassed the evidence presented to the jurors and allowed them to synthesize the matter in evaluating the evidence. Not only did the judge refuse to give the proposed charge, but she used her “standard charge,” which omitted certain items and failed to include any type of catch-all provision. Having standard charges benefits judges, but trial judges should not abdicate their duties of charging the jury on the law as presented by the facts to a book of general charges. Rather, trial judges must mold standard charges to fit the particular circumstances of each case:

As the South Carolina Supreme Court explained in State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989) “standard charges” or “approved charges” do not prohibit a trial judge from crafting charges designed to address the specific case. In Fuller, 297 S.C. at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 331, the Court explained that “[i]n charging self-defense, we instruct the trial court to consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion

an appropriate charge.” The trial courts are required to “specifically tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant.” State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 418, 535 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2000). In Day, the Court further stated that “[a] self-defense charge is erroneous where the trial court fails to charge on elements of the defense which were applicable to the issues raised by the defendant.” Id. As with jury instructions on self-defense, there is no logical reason to refrain from charging the jury on facts and theories presented by the defendant in an eyewitness identification case. See Brodes v. State, 614 S.E.2d 766, 771 (Ga. 2005); State v. Long, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986) (discussing the importance and need for tailoring jury instructions on eyewitness identifications to the facts and circumstances of each individual case).

In Appellant’s case, the jury instructions left the jury with the impression that it could only consider the factors expressly stated - whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense, which may have been affected by things like how long or short a time was available, how far or close the witness was, the lighting conditions, and whether the witness had a chance to see or know the person in the past. What the instruction failed to do was inform the jury of how it should synthesize and analyze the additional facts and factors uncovered during cross-examination of the witnesses and through the testimony of Appellant’s expert. In fact, the nature of the instruction left the jury with the impression that most of the evidence produced by Appellant was not to be considered by the jury during its deliberations. This was error.

II. The trial judge erred in allowing the prosecution to introduce Appellant's mug shot where no demonstrable need of the mug shot was established, the mug shot was unnecessary and cumulative to the prosecution's case, and the mug shot prejudiced Appellant by suggesting to the jury that Appellant had a prior criminal record.

**Relevant facts**

During the testimony of Lawrence, the prosecution introduced Appellant's mug shot over Appellant's objection. Specifically, the prosecution sought to introduce the photograph of Appellant taken when he was arrested for the incident on which he was on trial; however, the fact that the mug shot was from Appellant's arrest concerning this charge was never conveyed to the jury. Appellant objected to the introduction of the mug shot. R. 75, line 13 – R. 76, line 23. Lawrence testified that the mug shot fairly and accurately depicted how Appellant looked on the day he was arrested; however, Lawrence did not inform the jury that the mug shot was from Appellant's arrest on the present charge. R. 77, lines 3 – 25.

The trial court ordered portions of the mug shot be removed so that it would not appear as a mug shot. R. 132, line 25 – R. 133, line 1. When Appellant explained his objection remained the same because even with the redaction, “any reasonable juror [could] infer that's a booking photo,” the judge cryptically responded “[t]hat's not what I'm concerned with.” The trial judge ruled the mug shot was admissible because it “was the actual booking photo.” She remarked that everyone knew Appellant was arrested and booked. The case relied upon by Appellant for exclusion of the mug shot apparently involved a photograph showing a defendant with a “date ... around his neck ..., which was prior to the arrest that he was being tried for.” R. 196, lines 16-24. The judge also

explained that the prosecution indicated the photograph was needed because it showed Appellant's side profile. R. 197, lines 3-8. However, the photographs were obviously a mug shot as they were front and side profile shots of Appellant's face. R. 133, lines 18 – 25.

In addition to the testimony of Lawrence concerning the mug shot, Lawrence and Luckadoo testified to their prior relationships with Appellant, which were acquired as part of their jobs in law enforcement. Luckadoo testified that when he watched the surveillance video, he recognized the assailant as Appellant. He testified that he had "general dealings" with Appellant, including personal contact through a traffic stop. R. 50, line 23 – R. 51, line 8. Lawrence testified that he believed the person in the surveillance video was Appellant as well. Lawrence claimed he "had the opportunity to talk with [Appellant] for hours at a time while patrolling." He claimed that he had interactions with Appellant "not because he was in trouble or anything." Despite claiming that Appellant was not "in trouble" during their prior interactions, he testified that he had the opportunity to view Appellant's face, hear him talk, observe his mannerisms. In short, Lawrence claimed he knew Appellant "very well." R. 68, line 10 – R. 69, line 16.

### **Discussion**

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