**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County  
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212739  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARVIN BOWENS GREEN,

Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

**RECEIVED**

MAR 25 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

he believes that it was him from his experience.” (R. p.2, line 22-R. p.3, line 2). During trial, Victim testified he knew the robber as a regular customer and was able to identify him in a lineup without hesitation. Lawrence testified he recognized Appellant in the video and added Appellant’s photograph to the six-person lineup. He specifically testified he recognized Appellant’s face when Appellant turned to the right. (R. p.70, lines 3-4, 7-9, 21-24.) Therefore, Appellant’s right side profile was a significant piece of evidence to help the jury compare it, the video, and the still photos from the video in order to determine whether Appellant was the man in the video.

Being aware of defense counsel’s strategy of “mistaken identity” and understanding that issues of identification and credibility are for the jury, the State recognized the importance of providing the jury with sufficient evidence to prove Appellant’s identity. The photograph allowed the jury to review the accuracy of the identifications made by Victim, Victim’s wife, Lawrence, and Luckadoo and come to its own conclusions, thereby enhancing the probative value of the photograph. Moreover, as the trial court pointed out, the reason the State needed the mug shot was to show a side profile picture. (R. p.197, lines 3-8.) Because the video showed Appellant turn his head to the right side, this was critical information for the jury to have when considering the accuracy of the identifications.

Furthermore, the photograph at issue provides no suggestion Appellant had a criminal record. Instead, the photograph consists of simple frontal and side close-ups with no placards, redacted or visible, or other marks to identify the photograph as a “mug shot.” This serves as a marked departure from the photographs used in Tate, Robinson and Denson, all of which possessed placards, words identifying a particular county, or

blackened out areas on the defendant's face.<sup>1</sup> See Tate, 288 S.C. at 105, 341 S.E.2d at 381 (photographs in question depicted the appellant in both front and side profile with placard identifying date and county of arrest); Robinson, 274 S.C. at 200, 262 S.E.2d at 730 (photographs showed appellant from full frontal, profile, and frontal head and shoulders perspectives with written material on the face being redacted) Denson, 269 S.C. at 410, 237 S.E.2d at 762-63 (photographs at issue depicted appellant from a frontal view with a placard which was mostly redacted).

Addressing the third Denson prong, there is no evidence indicating the photograph was introduced so as to draw attention to its origin or implication. Rather, the photograph was introduced during the direct examination of Detective Lawrence in an effort to provide the jury with another tool to use in determining identity. (R. p.75, line 9-R. p.77, line 25.) Furthermore, the trial court cut the top and bottom off the photo in response to Appellant's objection that the top and bottom rows indicated the photo came from Charleston County, assuring no distinguishing marks remained on the photograph before the jury had the opportunity to view it. (R. p.197, lines 9-16.) Accordingly, the State submits the third prong of Denson is satisfied.

Appellant cites State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), where our supreme court found the State failed to demonstrate a need to include a mug shot as part of the defendant's photographic lineup. While the Court did not find reversible error, Appellant emphasized the Court's admonition against utilization of such photographs

---

<sup>1</sup> By comparison, the photographs most similar to the present case were those in State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 513 S.E.2d 385 (Ct. App. 1999). In Ford this Court affirmed the admission of a photographic lineup containing "mug shots" using the Denson analysis. Ford, 334 S.C. at 450, 513 S.E.2d at 388. Addressing the second prong of Denson, the Court, describing the "mug shots" as "[o]nly the heads and necks of the individuals in the lineup" with "no identifying clothing or placards," concluded there was nothing about the photographs to suggest appellant had a prior criminal record. Id.

except in the rarest of cases. Id. at 84, 600 S.E.2d at 528. It is important to note that although the Court found no demonstrable need to introduce the photo lineup in Traylor because an accomplice had already identified Traylor by name, it still found no prejudice. Id. The Court clarified that it focused its holding in Denson regarding the three criteria for reversible error on the rationale “that such photos are prejudicial because they imply a defendant’s prior bad acts.” Id. at 84 n.12, 600 S.E.2d at 528 n.12.

Here, nothing about the mug shot could have implied any prior bad acts on the part of Appellant. Not only did the trial court remove Charleston County from the top and bottom of the photo in response to Appellant’s objection, no other evidence was provided that Appellant had ever been arrested before. Appellant asserts in his brief that Lawrence and Luckadoo indicated they knew Appellant from prior experience related to law enforcement, thus leading the jury to the only conclusion it could draw—that Appellant had a criminal record. However, both Lawrence and Luckadoo were careful during their testimony not to indicate in any way that Appellant had any past criminal history. Luckadoo testified he had general dealings with Appellant before and had personal contact with him on a traffic stop. (R. p.51, lines 2-8.) Lawrence testified specifically, “I’ve had interactions with him, not because he was in trouble or anything.” (R. p.68, lines 16-22.) Appellant’s final argument regarding the mug shot seems to imply “the omission of the mug shot’s temporal origin” played a role in giving the jury the impression Appellant had a prior criminal record. The record does not specifically indicate any temporal origin on the mug shot that was later removed; the record only refers to the removal of “Charleston County.” However, as pointed out earlier, the trial court removed all identifying characteristics on the top and bottom of the mug shot in

direct response to Appellant's objection, so if there was a date or other temporal origin removed, Appellant cannot now complain about a result he requested and was granted.

#### Harmless Error

Even assuming admitting the "booking" photograph was error, it was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt and the cumulative nature of the photo. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 663 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). "When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result." State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). When overwhelming evidence of guilt has been established, any trial error may be harmless. State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-81, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988).

Here, the video recording, the still shot photographs from that video recording, and the six-person lineup were all admitted into evidence; therefore, the additional admission of the "booking" photo was cumulative and could not have affected the outcome of the trial. This is particularly true given the identification testimony elicited from Victim and his wife. Therefore, any error in admission of the photograph would

have been harmless. See, e.g., State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a conviction should not be set aside because of errors not affecting the result when the defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion could be reached); State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 317 S.E.2d 129 (1984).

Based on the collective weight of this testimony and evidence, Appellant's guilt was conclusively proven. The jury could not have reached any conclusion other than a guilty verdict. Any alleged errors were insubstantial and could not have affected the ultimate result of the trial. Thus, any error in admitting the photo was harmless and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

### III.

**The trial court properly sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 because he committed his prior offense at the age of seventeen and was convicted as an adult. Furthermore, even if seventeen were to be considered a juvenile contrary to South Carolina's statutory definition, the use of a prior juvenile conviction to enhance Appellant's sentence under the statute would not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.**

Appellant maintains his sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution because the sentence was enhanced based on Appellant's prior conviction for a crime committed when he was seventeen years old. However, the trial judge properly sentenced Appellant under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 because Appellant's prior conviction for a most serious offense constituted a qualifying prior conviction for enhancement purposes under the statute. Furthermore, the enhancement of Appellant's sentence with the prior conviction did not offend modern standards of decency and did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

#### **A. Propriety of the Sentencing Enhancement**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011). “[T]he trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-86 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial court’s conclusions lack evidentiary support or are

controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010).

Generally, the trial judge has broad discretion in imposing a sentence within the statutory limits. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). “A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.” State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). Appellate courts typically only interfere in a trial judge’s discretionary sentencing decision in rare and unusual circumstances. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952).

However, under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A), once the State seeks LWOP, the trial judge has no discretion in sentencing and must sentence a defendant to a term of imprisonment of life without the possibility of parole where the defendant was convicted of a most serious offense and has either one or more prior convictions for a most serious offense or two or more prior convictions for a serious offense. Kidnapping, first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and assault and battery with intent to kill are all classified as most serious offenses under the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (2003 & Supp. 2012).

A “conviction” for purposes of the recidivist offender statute means any conviction, guilty plea, or plea of nolo contendere. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(3) (2003 & Supp. 2012). A juvenile adjudication in family court does not qualify as a conviction for purposes of sentencing enhancement under the statute. State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 179, 547 S.E.2d 490, 492 (2001). However, where a juvenile is tried as an

adult in general sessions court, a resulting conviction or guilty plea is a conviction for enhancement purposes. State v. Standard, 351 S.C. 199, 203, 569 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2002).

Prior to being convicted of these crimes, Appellant had been convicted of an earlier most serious offense stemming from a crime he committed at the age of seventeen. His prior conviction was not a juvenile adjudication, meaning it constituted a conviction for statutory sentencing enhancement purposes. Therefore, due to the fact Appellant was convicted of a most serious offense and had a prior conviction for a most serious offense, the trial judge properly determined she was required to sentence Appellant to a term of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. The trial judge committed no statutory error in enhancing Appellant's sentence under the clear and unambiguous requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

**B. Sentence Enhancement and Cruel and Unusual Punishment**

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. U.S. Const. amend. VIII. However, the Eighth Amendment only forbids extreme sentences that are grossly disproportionate to the crime. Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001 (1991). What constitutes cruel and unusual punishment is an evolving standard and involves looking at how society presently views a particular punishment. State v. Wilson, 306 S.C. 498, 509-10, 413 S.E.2d 19, 26 (1992). "The Amendment must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Trops v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958).

The clearest and most reliable expression of society's contemporary values is derived from legislation enacted by this country's legislatures. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 563, 647 S.E.2d 144, 162 (2007). However, a reviewing court's own judgment should also be employed by asking whether there is reason to disagree with the judgment reached by the citizenry and the legislature. Id. at 563, 647 S.E.2d at 163. In order to establish that evolving standards of decency preclude a particular punishment, the defendant bears the heavy burden of showing our culture and laws have emphatically and virtually universally rejected a particular sentencing practice. Id. at 565, 647 S.E.2d at 164. "It is not the burden of the state to establish a national consensus approving what their citizens have voted to do; rather, it is the heavy burden of the defendant to establish a national consensus against it." State v. Williams, 380 S.C. 336, 347, 669 S.E.2d 640, 646 (Ct. App. 2008).

In State v. Standard, the South Carolina Supreme Court determined the enhancement of a sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 with a prior juvenile conviction did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. 351 S.C. 199, 204, 569 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2002). "[The Court held] that an enhanced sentence based upon a prior most serious **conviction** for a crime which was committed as a juvenile does not offend evolving standards of decency so as to constitute cruel and unusual punishment." Id. at 206, 569 S.E.2d at 329. Subsequently, in State v. Williams, the Court of Appeals also found the imposition of a sentence of life without parole based on a prior juvenile conviction did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. 380 S.C. at 348-49, 669 S.E.2d at 647. Even if Appellant were treated as a juvenile in considering his past conviction, a review of the case law in South Carolina supports using his prior conviction as an enhancement for section 17-25-45. The fact is that any juvenile can be waived up

to general sessions to be tried as an adult based on S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210 (6) (2010). It would be absurd to speculate at this point whether Appellant would have been tried as a juvenile or waived up to general sessions if he had been under seventeen at the time he committed the prior crime. However, it is interesting to note that the crime for which Standard was waived up at the age of fifteen was the same crime of which Appellant was convicted at age seventeen: armed robbery.

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